SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re K. C., A Person Coming Under The Juvenile Court Law.	SUPREME COURT NO. S183-320
KINGS COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF) HUMAN SERVICES,) Plaintiff and Respondent,) v.)	COURT OF APPEAIRREME COURT NO. F058395 CRC FILED JUVENILE NO. 08JD0075 Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk
J.C., Defendant and Appellant.)	RECEIVED SERVICE TO 2010 CLERK SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF KINGS

HONORABLE GEORGE L. ORNDOFF, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MONICA VOGELMANN
California Bar No. 126-462
P.O. Box 1034
Cooperstown, New York 13326
(607) 547-7058
By appointment of the Court of

ISSUES PRESENTED
INTRODUCTION,
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE
ARGUMENT I.
J.C. HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE SECTION 388 MODIFICATION PETITION REQUESTING THAT K. BE PLACED WITH THE PATERNAL GRANDPARENTS BECAUSE HE IS A PARTY OF RECORD AND THE CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, SECTION 902 IS A REMEDIAL STATUTE WHICH SHOULD BE LIBERALLY CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF THE RIGHT TO APPEAL
ARGUMENT II.
J.C. HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE SECTION 388 MODIFICATION PETITION REQUESTING THAT K. BE PLACED WITH THE PATERNAL GRANDPARENTS BECAUSE HE WILL RETAIN A SIGNIFICANT LEGAL RELATIONSHIP TO HIS SON, I.E., THAT OF A LEGAL SIBLING, IF K. IS PLACED WITH THE PATERNAL GRANDPARENTS UNDER A PERMANENT PLAN OF ADOPTION
ARGUMENT III.
J.C. HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE SECTION 388 MODIFICATION PETITION REQUESTING THAT K. BE PLACED WITH THE PATERNAL GRANDPARENTS BECAUSE THE CASES WHICH HOLD THAT A FATHER DOES NOT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT INTEREST IN THE PLACEMENT OF HIS INFANT SON IGNORE THE WELL-DOCUMENTED IMPORTANCE OF EXTENDED FAMILY AND RELATIVE PLACEMENTS TO THE

CHILD, THE SIBLINGS AND THE FAMILY AS A WHOLE. SINCE THE FATHER
REMAINS A PART OF THE EXTENDED FAMILY, HIS DIRECT AND PERSONAL
INTEREST IS ADVERSELY AFFECTED
ARGUMENT IV.
J.C. HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE
SECTION 388 MODIFICATION PETITION REQUESTING THAT K. BE PLACED
WITH THE PATERNAL GRANDPARENTS BECAUSE HE IS A PARTY OF
RECORD AND HIS COUNSEL ACTIVELY PARTICIPATED AT THE CONTESTED
HEARING ON THE PETITION; SPECIFICALLY JOINED THE ARGUMENT OF
THE PATERNAL GRANDPARENTS' COUNSEL AND REQUESTED THE COURT
PLACE K. WITH THE PATERNAL GRANDPARENTS
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Ajida Technologies, Inc. v. Roos Instruments, Inc. (2001) Alan v. American Honda Motor Co., Inc. (2007) Cesar V. v. Superior Court (2001) Guardianship of Pankey (1974) In re Carrisa G. (1999) *In re Daniel D.* (1994) *In re D.S.* (2007) *In re Emily R.* (2000) In re Esperanza C. (2008) *In re Frank L.* (2000) *In re H.G.* (2006) *In re Jason E.* (1997)

In re Joseph G. (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 712
In re Joseph T. (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 787
In re Kerry O. (2000) 210 Cal.App.3d 326
In re Lauren C. (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 841
In re Valerie A. (2007) 152 Cal. App. 4th 987
In re Vanessa Z. (1994) 23 Cal. App. 4th 258
Lee v. Brown (1976) 18 Cal.3d 110
Moore V. City of East Cleveland, Ohio (1977) 431 U.S. 494, [97 S. Ct. 1932; 52 L. Ed. 2d 531
Statutes
Code of Civil Procedure section 902
Family Code section 3102
Health and Safety Code section 7100
Probate Code section 1510

section 6400-6414
Welfare and Institutions Code
section 281.5
section 309
section 319
section 361.3
section 388, subdivision b
section 16000, subdivision (a)
Rules
California Rules of Court
rule 8.500(b)(1)
Misc.
Jeanette H. v Angelo V. (1990) 562 N.Y.S.2d 368)
In the Matter of the Welfare of D.L. (1992)
486 N.W.2d 375
Rivera v. Marcus (2d Cir. 1982)
696 F.2d 1016
La. Rev. Stat. Ann. 9:344, subdivision C
Ark. Code Ann. 9-13-102
750 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 5/607(b)(1)
Md. Code. Ann., Fam. Law 5-525.2
N.J. Stat. Ann. 9:2-7.1(a)
N.Y. Dom. Rel. Law 71.)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re K. C.,)
) SUPREME COURT
A Person Coming Under) NO. S183-320
The Juvenile Court Law.)
KINGS COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF) COURT OF APPEAL
HUMAN SERVICES,) NO. F058395
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
) JUVENILE
v.) NO. 08JD0075
)
J.C.,)
Defendant and Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF KINGS

HONORABLE GEORGE L. ORNDOFF, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES PRESENTED

What is the proper scope of the showing that a father's interests have been injuriously affected in order for the father to have appellate standing to challenge the denial of the paternal grandparents' Welfare and Institutions Code section 388 modification petition which sought relative

placement in the paternal grandparents' home, where the permanency hearing is pending?¹

The Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District [Fifth Appellate District], in this opinion, holds that the parent must show that his interests are injuriously affected by the court's decision, not that the parent's interest theoretically might be affected and declines "an on-the-merits review of the trial court's ruling on the relative placement request." (Slip Opn. p. 10.)

INTRODUCTION

J.C.. and A.M. are the parents of seven boys, however, only K. is the subject of this appeal. One-month old K. was removed from his mother's custody after his oldest brother, Johnny C., aged 15, jumped from his mother's moving car- - Johnny C. died within days from massive head injuries sustained in the jump.

A section 300 petition on behalf of K. was filed. At the time of the filing, the older boys were dependents of the Tulare County juvenile court and all but Johnny were placed with the paternal grandparents, Mary and Leo C., with a permanent plan of adoption. The grandmother appeared at K.'s detention hearing and requested that K. be placed in her home with

Hereinafter all statutory references are to the California Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise stated.

K.'s full siblings. The Agency assessed the grandparents' home as meeting the standards for relative placement, but nonetheless declined to place K. with his grandparents; the grandparents filed a grievance notice within days of learning about the denial. Unbeknownst to J.C. or his parents, days after receiving the grandparent's grievance notice, the Agency placed K. into another foster home which planned to adopt K.

The grandparents filed a section 388 modification petition, joined by J.C., requesting placement of K. However, the court denied the modification petition and terminated parental rights.

J.C. contends that he has standing to challenge the trial court's denial of his parent's section 388 modification petition requesting that K., his son, be placed with the paternal grandparents because he is a party of record and the Code of Civil Procedure, section 902 is a remedial statute which should be liberally construed in favor of the right to appeal.

Secondly, J.C. has standing to challenge the trial court's denial of the section 388 modification petition requesting that K. be placed with the paternal grandparents because he will retain a significant legal relationship to his son, i.e., that of a legal sibling, if K. is placed with the paternal grandparents under a permanent plan of adoption. This interest is neither nominal, remote, nor speculative, if K. is placed with the paternal

grandparents.

Thirdly, J.C. has standing to challenge the trial court's denial of the section 388 modification petition requesting that K. be placed with the paternal grandparents because the cases which hold that a father does not have a significant interest in the placement of his infant son ignore the well-documented importance of extended family and relative placements to the child, the siblings and the family as a whole. Since the father remains a part of the family, albeit as a legal brother, and not a father, his direct and personal interest is adversely affected.

And lastly, as a separate and distinct ground to assert standing to challenge the juvenile court's denial of the paternal grandparents' section 388 modification petition requesting relative placement, J.C. asserts that his counsel's active participation in the evidentiary hearing on the petition; joinder in the grandparents' argument in support of the section 388 modification petition; and his own argument in support of the petition constitutes a joinder of the petition, thereby conferring standing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS Jurisdiction/Disposition

On October 30, 2008, one-month old, K. C., was taken into protective custody because on October 25, 2008, K.'s older brother,

Johnny, aged 15, had jumped from A.'s moving vehicle and suffered fatal head injuries- - K. was in the vehicle at the time. (1 C.T. 12-14.) The Protective Custody Warrant affidavit alleged that A. had a long drug abuse history and that K.'s six older sibling were dependents of the Tulare County Juvenile Court based upon that drug use. (1 C.T. 8-9.)

On October 30, 2008, the Agency filed a petition alleging under Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, subdivision (b) that K. was at risk because A. abused methamphetamine and alcohol which rendered her incapable of providing regular care for K. (1 C.T. 3.) A. was alleged to have failed court-ordered drug treatment and had been arrested 12 times for drug or alcohol related charges- - the last was June 2008. (1 C.T. 3.) The petition also alleged under subdivision (j) that K.'s six older sibling are dependents of the Tulare County Juvenile Court in 2007 and that A. has failed to reunify with them. (1 C.T. 4.)

On October 30, 2008, the Tulare County Sheriff's deputies responded to an "attempted suicide" call which resulted from Johnny jumping from A.'s moving car. (1 C.T. 12.) A., the sole witness to the events told the deputy that she had not seen or spoken to Johnny in one-and one-half years, when he called and asked her to pick him up as he had run away from his residential treatment program. (1 C.T. 12.)

A. gave different versions of the subsequent events - - first she told the deputy that for unknown reasons, Johnny had begun to make statements about wanting to die and that he was going to jump from the car to kill himself. (1 C.T. 12.) A. slowed the car to 45 miles per hour when Johnny opened the door and jumped out. (1 C.T. 12.) Johnny hit the asphalt and landed on the shoulder of the road and A. made a u-turn and waited with Johnny until rescue personnel appeared. (1 C.T. 12.) A. reported that Johnny had a history of suicide attempts and had previously ingested pills in a suicide attempt. (1 C.T. 12.)

In the second version, A. reported that she and Johnny had gotten into a "heated argument" and that Johnny jumped out of the car and was struck by another car. (1 C.T. 13.) Then she denied that mother and son had argued, and reported that when Johnny jumped from the car, she was only going 15 miles per hour and he was not struck by another car. (1 C.T. 13.) A. was uncooperative during the investigation and authorities became concerned because K. was in the car at the time. (1 C.T. 13.) A. was also uncooperative with child protective workers - - she also had an outstanding warrant for \$60,000. (1 C.T. 15-16.)

In the meantime, Johnny injuries were determined to be "not survivable" and he was ultimately taken off life support on October 29,

2008. (1 C.T. 14-15.)

Johnny and K.'s other siblings were taken into Tulare County
Human Services Agency's [THSA] custody in October 2007, as A. was
allegedly dealing drugs, and J.C. had a warrant- - the children were not
attending school regularly and were not fed or adequately supervised. (1
C.T. 46.) The parents were offered reunification services, but neither
complied and as a result, the Agency recommended that services be
terminated and adoption with the paternal grandparents selected as the
children's permanent plan. (1 C.T. 46.)

The Agency also reported that the parents had a long child protective history dating back to 1999 based upon drug abuse. (1 C.T. 45.) While J.C. did initially comply with services and ultimately reunified during the first case, the children were subsequently placed with the paternal grandparents. (1 C.T. 45.) Both parents failed to participate successfully in reunification services and their parental rights to the older children were terminated on September 12, 2008. (1 C.T. 99.)

Both J.C. and his mother, Mary C., appeared at the detention hearing and Mary requested placement of K. (1 R.T. 8.)

In its jurisdictional report dated December 10, 2008, the Agency reported that K. was placed into a licensed foster home which was willing

to adopt K. (1 C.T. 81.)

In August and September of 2008, each parent had been convicted of one count of possession of pseudoephedrine- - A. was in violation of her probation and subject to a \$60,000 felony warrant, while J.C. was released early due to Johnny's death and awaited a bed at the Salvation Army drug treatment program. (1 C.T. 89.) J.C. had appeared at the detention hearing and had spoken to the Agency, but the Agency reported that it had no contact with A. to date. (1 C.T. 94.)

The Agency reported that Mary and Leonard C., the paternal grandparents, desired custody of K. (1 C.T. 96.) The Agency called the grandparents on November 13, 2008, and the grandparents were directed to come to Kings County to provide Livescan fingerprint specimens. (1 C.T. 96.) The grandparents could not come that day because K.'s wake and funeral were scheduled for that day and November 14, 2008, but the grandparents came to the Kings County Sheriff's Department and submitted the necessary fingerprints. (1 C.T. 96.) The Livescan results were received on December 2, 2008, and the Child Abuse Registry results followed- - Mary had no criminal record, but Leonard had a criminal history dating back to 1961 which required Agency waivers. (1 C.T. 96.)

The Agency worker called the grandparents on December 4, 2008,

and left a message to arrange the completion of paperwork necessary for placement assessment. (1 C.T. 96.) That same day, the grandparents returned the call and the relative assessment appointment was scheduled. (1 C.T. 97.)

The Agency recommended that no reunification services be offered to the parents based upon the failure of reunification in the siblings case. (1 C.T. 101.) The Agency recommended further that a selection and implementation hearing be set and that the most likely permanent plan for K. would be adoption. (1 C.T. 101.)

At the jurisdictional/ dispositional hearing, the Agency moved the court to judicially notice the dependency proceedings regarding K.'s older siblings in Tulare County Juvenile Court. (1 C.T. 122-300; 2 C.T. 301-467.)

Those records reflected that on October 15 and 16, 2007, the six brothers, Johnny, J.C. Jr., Adrian, Carlos, David and Gilbert were split between two foster homes. (1 C.T. 278.) But Johnny ran away from the placement that same day and was returned several days later, but he ran away from another foster care placement on April 23, 2008, and remained on runaway status until his death. (1 C.T. 278, 2 C.T. 413.)

Although A. reported the paternal grandparents' address as her

planned post-release address, the grandparents unequivocally stated that neither J.C. nor A. were welcome in their home. (2 C.T. 331.) The Tulare County HSA reported that the grandparents were grateful for custody of their grandchildren and expressed concern that the parents would complete the "minimum amount of services" to regain custody of the children but would then revert to their previous bad acts. (2 C.T. 327.) The children in the paternal grandparents' home consistently reported that they had no contact with either the parents or Johnny, who remained on runaway status. (2 C.T. 327.)

The grandparents were "fully committed" to the plan for adopting their grandchildren. (2 C.T. 388.) The Tulare County HSA Adoption worker observed the children with their grandparents and reported that the children appeared relaxed and close to their grandparents. (2 C.T. 388.) Johnny was assessed as unadoptable at that time- Johnny had run away from his foster home and his whereabouts were unknown- - the Tulare County workers have had no contact with Johnny since that time. (2 C.T. 414.)

J.C.'s counsel indicating that J.C. wished to reunify with K. and would be entering a one-year treatment program. (2 R.T. 103.) J.C. stipulated to the jurisdictional findings and the court found the petition true.

(2 R.T. 104.) The court also ordered that no reunification services be provided to the parents and scheduled a selection and implementation hearing for April 8, 2009. (2 C.T. 469.)

Selection and implementation hearing

Pending the selection and implementation hearing, the Agency scheduled a hearing on March 18, 2009, to appoint counsel for A., as she had been located. (3 R.T. 301.) The grandparents appeared at the March 18, 2009, hearing and requested the court to accept their letter requesting the Agency to reconsider the denial of placement with them. (3 R.T. 304-305.) The grandparents were first told, following a visit between the grandparents, K. and his brothers, on March 5, 2009, that the Agency had denied placement of K. in their home. (2 C.T. 597.) The court stated the only purpose of the hearing was to appoint A. a lawyer, and informed the grandparents another hearing was scheduled for April 8, 2009. (3 R.T. 304.) Subsequently, the grandparents were informed regarding the denial of their grievance in a letter dated March 24, 2009. (3 C.T. 690.)

On April 8, 2009, the Agency recommended that parental rights be terminated and that the permanent plan of adoption be selected for K.. (2 C.T. 544.) The Agency opined that no beneficial relationship existed between the parents and K. based upon the lack of any visits during the

dependency case. (2 C.T. 551.)

The Agency reported that K. had been placed into a "fost-adopt" family on March 19, 2009. (2 C.T. 548.) The adoptive parent is a single mother, aged 42, who has an adopted child- - she has an approved adoptive home study on file. (2 C.T. 549.) The Agency opined that even if the adoptive placement failed, it could easily find another adoptive family for K. (2 C.T. 549.)

The Agency reported that the paternal grandparents requested custody of K., but were denied placement even though the older five boys were placed with them with a permanent plan of adoption. (2 C.T. 551.)

Concurrently with the 366.26 WIC report, the Agency's Program Manager filed a supplemental report detailing that the grandparents had filed a letter on March 16, 2009, protesting the denial of placement in their home, as well as issuing a grievance and requesting review of the denial of placement in their home. (2 C.T. 557.) The Agency determined that the grandparents were not entitled to grievance process as the grievance procedure applied only to decisions that the home was deemed not to meet applicable licensing standards or decisions which denied an exception request for CPS or criminal offenses. (2 C.T. 558.)

But the paternal grandparents' home was approved for placement as

of December 17, 2008, as the worker who had evaluated the home certified"that the above named caregiver meets the standards for relative or non-relative extended family member home approval as of 12/17/2008." (3 C.T. 643.) And the Agency had granted the requested waiver for Leonard C.'s drunk driving convictions dating from 1961, as a minor, to 1967, and two convictions for driving while his license was suspended in 1968 and 1969. (3 C.T. 628-630.)

The Agency denied placement with the grandparents based upon (1) "Failure to Disclose Location of Mother and Minor"; (2) "Failure to Disclose All Adults Living on Property"; "Grandparents Cannot Meet K.'s Needs"; "Placement Would Exceed their Abilities to Care and Supervise"; "History of Neglecting Children with Special Needs"; "Grandparents Demonstrated an Inability to Protect from Obvious Threats"; "Lack of Diligence in Developing a Relationship"; and "Inadequate Space". (2 C.T. 562, 563, 565, 568, 569, 572, 573.) The Agency opined that it was not in K.'s best interests to be placed with his paternal grandparents and his full siblings. (2 C.T. 577.)

During the April 8, 2009, the Agency attorney opined the grandparents lacked standing to address the court, and the court agreed, and directed the grandparents to file a section 388 modification petition and a

hearing would be held. (4 R.T. 403, 408.)

The paternal grandparents file a section 388 modification petition

On April 16, 2009, the paternal grandparents filed a section 388 modification petition requesting that the court modify the foster care placement order and order that K. be placed in their home, with his five siblings. (3 C.T. 729.) The grandparents addressed the grounds proffered by the Agency for denial of their request to place K. in their home. (3 C.T. 731-734.)

On April 22, 2009, the juvenile court found that K.'s best interests may be promoted by the request and granted hearing to be held May 22, 2009. (3 C.T. 751.) On that date, the matter was set for contested hearing on July 9, 2009, but the Tulare records were not produced and the matter was continued again. (5 R.T. 514; 6 R.T. 602.)

The caregiver filed a "Caregiver Information Sheet" asking the court to terminate rights with no "further visits to the biological family." (3 C.T. 755-756.)

At the contested hearing, held August 20, 2009, and concluding August 21, 2009, the grandparents, joined by J.C., presented evidence in support of their petition. (4 C.T. 1020-1030.)

Elizabeth Mason is a Tulare County Adoption Agency social worker

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