Supreme Court Copy

No. S183320

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of K.C., a minor coming under the Juvenile Court law.

KINGS COUNTY HUMAN SERVICES AGENCY, Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT FILED

V.

J.C.,
Defendant and Appellant.

NOV 1 2 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeal Appellate Case No. F058395

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of Kings, The Honorable George Orndoff, Judge Superior Court Case No. 08JD0075

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

COLLEEN CARLSON, No. 203120
Kings County Counsel
JOHANNAH HARTLEY, No. 253914
Deputy County Counsel
County Government Center

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

The principle that a party must suffer an injury to have appellate standing is well established in California law from 1861 to the present. (Ely v. Frisbie (1861) 17 Cal. 250, 260 [party must be aggrieved to appeal]; Fitch v. Board of Supervisors (1898) 122 Cal. 285 [see generally for injuriously affected requirement]; Estate of Colton (1912) 164 Cal. 1 [party whose legally cognizable interest was injuriously affected by court decree could appeal]; In re D.R. (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 852, 858-59.) The aggrieved party requirement was codified in 1871 as Code of Civil Procedure section 938. (Cal. Civ. Proc. Code, § 938 repealed in 1968, currently § 902.) "It is a fundamental rule of appellate jurisdiction that every appellant must be interested in the subject matter of the litigation, and his interest must be immediate, pecuniary, and substantial and not nominal or a remote consequence of the judgment." (Hamilton v. Hamilton (1948) 83 Cal.App.2d 771, 774.)

The concept of standing is also well established in federal law originating in Article III of the United States Constitution and traced through numerous United States Supreme Court cases from *Marbury v. Madison* (1803) 5 U.S. 137, 163 ("The very essence of civil liberty certainly consists in the right of every individual to claim the protection of the laws, whenever he receives an injury") to *Lopez v. Candaele* (9th Cir. 2010) __ F.3d __, 2010 DJDAR 14695. (See also *Baker v. Carr* (1962) 369 U.S. 186, 208 [requiring a legally cognizable interest for appellate standing].) In reviewing the necessity and tangibility of the injury required for appellate standing, the United States Supreme Court opined that the injury inquiry includes, "Is the injury too abstract, or otherwise not appropriate, to be considered judicially cognizable? Is the line of causation between the illegal conduct and injury too attenuated? Is the prospect of obtaining relief from the injury as a result of a favorable ruling too speculative?" (*Allen v. Wright* (1984) 468 U.S. 737, 752.)

i. Fifth District Court of Appeal requires actual injury to establish standing.

In applying these well established standing principles the Court of Appeals for the Fifth Appellate District in the present case used a two-part test to determine that the father was not aggrieved by the Juvenile Court's order denying placement of the child K.C. with his grandparents. First, the court examined whether the father had a legally cognizable interest in the child's placement. (*In re K.C.* at 125-6; Slip Opn., pp. 5-6.) Second, the court examined whether the father's interest was injuriously affected by the Juvenile Court's decision. (*In re K.C.* at 126-8; Slip Opn., pp. 7-10.) Focusing on the required injury the court stated, "A parent does not have appellate standing to challenge an order denying a relative placement request once a permanency planning hearing is pending unless the parent can show his or her interest in the child's companionship, custody, management and care *is, rather than may be*, 'injuriously affected' by the court's decision." (*In re K.C.* at 128; Slip Opn., p. 10 [emphasis added].)

Appellant has not identified any direct injury to his parental relationship with K.C. resulting from the denial of the paternal grandparents' placement request. In applying the actual injury requirement to the case, it is clear that Appellant has not suffered actual harm and has not proven that he will suffer actual harm in the immediate future as a result of the placement decision. At the time of the hearing on the paternal grandparents' Section 388 petition, Appellant was not receiving reunification services, had not contacted the Agency to inquire about K.C. or schedule visits with K.C., and did not have a relationship with K.C. As the Fifth District reasoned, the Juvenile Court's placement ruling did not "preclude father from pursuing relief under section 388 to set aside the permanency planning hearing and attempt reunification," did not "prohibit father from presenting any evidence at the hearing regarding an exception

under section 366.26, subdivision (c)(1)(B) to adoption as the preferred permanent plan for K.[C.]," nor "prevent the court at that stage from proceeding with its section 366.26 hearing, finding the child adoptable and terminating parental rights." (*In re K.C.* at 125; Slip Opn., p. 7.) Also, the "father confuses his fundamental interest, which would have been extinguished in any event, with the possibility he might visit K.[C.] at some future point if the grandparents saw fit. In an ironic twist, father also ignores his own conduct, in having seen K.[C.] only once in the child's life and failing to ever visit the child after dependency proceedings were initiated." (*In re K.C.* at 128; Slip Opn., p. 10.)

The Fourth District Court of Appeals, Division Three, also denied a parent who was not receiving reunification services standing to appeal the Juvenile Court's denial of relative placement in *In re Cesar V.* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1023. In Cesar V. both the father and paternal grandmother sought extraordinary review of the Juvenile Court order denying placement of the children with the paternal grandmother. (Id. at 1026.) Placement was challenged on the eve of the Section 366.26 hearing by the grandmother and the father who also filed a Section 388 petition. (Id. at 1028, 1030.) The Cesar V. Court held that the father "has no standing to appeal the relative placement preference issue. Especially in light of his stipulation to terminate reunification services, we cannot see how the denial of placement with [the paternal grandmother] affects his interest in reunification with the children." (Id. at 1035.) The Court, however, determined that the placement issue was properly before the Court, because the paternal grandmother had also sought extraordinary review from the order denying her placement of the children. (*Id.* at 1034-35.)

ii. Relaxing the "aggrieved" element of standing to allow speculative future harm negates the standing doctrine.

Contrary to the Fifth District and the Fourth District, Division Three, the Fourth District, Division One, enumerated a relaxed standard for assessing a parent's injury when relative placement is denied after family reunification services have been terminated. (See *In re Esperanza C*. (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1042.) The Esperanza C. Court held that a mother and child who each filed Section 388 petitions regarding placement had standing to challenge the agency's placement decision. (Id.) Both Section 388 petitions requested that the child be placed with a great-uncle who had been denied placement based on an alleged nonexemptible violation of Penal Code section 272 for supplying his 17 year old brother and friends with alcohol when he was 21 years old, almost thirty years prior to the dependency proceedings. (*Id.* at 1050-51.) In determining that the mother and child had standing to appeal the denial of their Section 388 petitions, the Court noted that the parent "retains a fundamental interest in his or her child's companionship, custody, management and care" until parental rights are terminated because "placement of a child with a relative had the potential to alter the juvenile court's determination of the child's best interests and the appropriate permanency plan for that child, and may affect a parent's interest in his or her legal status with respect to the child." (Id. at 1053-54 [emphasis added and citations omitted].)

The holding in *Esperanza C*. relaxes the standing requirement to such an extent that it ceases to be a requirement, thus negating the well established appellate principle of an aggrieved party. This opens the proverbial flood gates to appeal any error regardless of personal impact of the judgment. Furthermore, the holding in *Esperanza C*. should be limited because it dealt with an error of law, as the relative was erroneously denied

placement based on the agency's classification of the relative's criminal conviction as nonexemptible under Section 361.4. (*Id.* at 1053.) Moreover, both the parent and the child filed petitions with the Juvenile Court and sought appellate review of the placement decision. Therefore, irrespective of the issue of the parent's appellate standing, the case was properly before the court as a result of the child's appeal.

In support of this relaxed standard for appellate standing Appellant cites the case of Guardianship of Pankey (1974) 38 Cal. App. 3d 919, for the proposition that any person showing up in court has the right to appeal. (Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits, p. 23.) The *Pankey* Court held "[o]nce the right to appear is established, the right to appeal an adverse decision should follow. 'The right of appeal should be recognized unless the statute provides otherwise, and it should not be denied upon technical grounds if the appellant is acting in good faith." (Id. at 927 [quoting Greif v. Dullea (1944) 66 Cal.App.2d 986, 993].) The *Pankey* case is distinguishable from Appellant's argument for several reasons. First, the Pankey Court allowed a grandmother who was a party of record, as an objector in the guardianship proceedings, to appeal the denial of her objections which she litigated before the Probate Court. (Id. at 925-27.) The grandmother had a legal right to object based on the Probate Code and was aggrieved by the Probate Court's denial of her objections. (*Id.* at 927.) However, the First District held that she could not appeal the sufficiency of the father's notice of the guardianship proceedings. (*Id.* at 938.) Additionally, the issue for appellate jurisdiction in *Greif*, the case that Pankey relied on in reaching its holding, revolved around the definition of "a party" not around whether there was an injury to fulfill the aggrieved requirement for standing. Second, the *Pankey* case arose in the context of a probate guardianship not in the context of a juvenile dependency case. The case of In re Angel S. (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1202, 1210, which was in a

dependency context, limited the *Pankey* holding to the Probate Code and determined that a person who is not aggrieved lacks standing to appeal. The *Angel S*. Court affirmed that the injury requirement is an essential element of the standing doctrine by denying appellate standing to a party seeking to appeal the lack of notice to another party. Third, applying the *Pankey* holding, Appellant still fails to have standing because he did not meet the statutory requirements for standing in Code of Civil Procedure section 902, he did not have an absolute right as an incarcerated parent to be transported to the Section 388 hearing even though he was present, and he cannot appeal on the paternal grandparents' behalf. (Cal. Pen. Code, § 2625 subds. (d)-(e).)

Other cases that have adopted a relaxed standing standard still require a legally cognizable injury. (See, e.g., Blumhorst v. Jewish Family Services of Los Angeles (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 993 [plaintiff lacked standing under Government Code section 11135 because he was not personally aggrieved]; Residents of Beverly Glen, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1973) 34 Cal.App.3d 117, 128 [relaxed standing rules for matters involving the public interest still require the public to be aggrieved].) The denial of appellate jurisdiction also results using the "relaxed standing analysis" that governs challenges to the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. (Lopez v. Candaele (9th Cir. 2010) F.3d , 2010 DJDAR 14695.) The federal courts have loosened the standing standard for challenges to the First Amendment to provide a greater opportunity to appeal so as to protect the rights to speech granted by the United States Constitution. The court in *Lopez* stated that the "irreducible constitutional minimum of standing consist[s] of three elements: injury in fact, causation, and a likelihood that a favorable decision will redress the plaintiff's alleged injury." (Id. [citations omitted].) Although the court relaxed the standing standard, the plaintiff was still required to prove "injury in fact." (Id. at 14698.) "[P]laintiffs must still show an actual or imminent injury to a legally protected interest. ... The touchstone for determining injury in fact is whether the plaintiff has suffered an injury or threat of injury that is credible, not 'imaginary or speculative.'" (*Id.* [citations and quotation omitted].) Although challenges to the First Amendment of the United States Constitution invoke federal jurisdiction, the *Lopez* case shows how a well established relaxed standing standard still recognizes the importance of injury and preserves the requirement.

iii. Joining in an argument does not create standing.

A "parent is precluded from raising issues on appeal which [do] not affect his or her own rights." (In re Jasmine J. (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1802, 1806 [citations omitted].) An appellant must demonstrate that his or her interests are affected by the Juvenile Court's ruling, not someone else's interests, in order to have standing to appeal. (In re Crystal J. (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 186, 189.) Taking a position on a matter before the Juvenile Court does not grant a party standing to appeal an adverse decision on that position. (In re Frank L. (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 700, 703; In re Carissa G., supra, 76 Cal.App.4th at 736.) "Standing to challenge an adverse ruling is not established merely because a parent takes a position on an issue that affects the minor; nor can a parent raise the minor's best interest as a basis for standing. Without a showing that a parent's personal rights are affected by a ruling, the parent does not establish standing." (In re D.S. (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 671, 674 [citations omitted]; See also In re Nachelle S. (1996) 41 Cal.App.4th 1557, 1562 [a parent cannot appeal solely based on the affect to the child's best interest as allowing such appeals would eviscerate the aggrieved requirement of the standing doctrine].)

The interests of siblings or other relatives in their relationship with a dependent of the court are separate from that of the parent. (*In re Frank L.*,

supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at 703.) Therefore, the parent lacks standing to raise such issues because the parent is not an "aggrieved party." (Id.) For example, a parent is not aggrieved by the severing of a grandparent's ties to a dependent child upon termination of parental rights. (In re Gary P. (1995) 40 Cal. App. 4th 875.) The court in Gary P. denied a parent standing to challenge the termination of a grandparent's relationship with a child upon the termination of parental rights. (Id.) The court reasoned that the parent was not aggrieved by the cessation of the grandparent's relationship and that the grandparent had "no absolute right to custody of their grandchildren." (Id. at 877.) Similarly, the court in Devin M. denied a parent standing to appeal termination of parental rights on the grounds that the child and foster parent enjoyed a "mutual parent-child bond" and thus the child should not have been removed from the foster parent in favor of an adoptive placement. (In re Devin M. (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 1538, 1540.) A parent has also been denied standing to challenge a child's placement or raise ineffective assistance of counsel by the child's attorney when appealing from a Section 366.26 hearing. (In re Frank L., supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at 703.) Furthermore, a parent cannot appeal issues that affect another parent such as reunification services, hearing notices, and the dismissal of a dependency petition when that parent is not entitled to custody. (In re Sarah M. (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 1486, 1503-4 (overruled in part on other grounds by *In re Chantel S.* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 196) [mother lacks standing to appeal order requiring father to participate in counseling services]; In re Jenelle C. (1987) 197 Cal.App.3d 813, 818 [mother lacks standing to appeal defective service of notice to father]; In re Tomi C. (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 694 [father lacks standing to appeal from dismissal of a dependency petition].)

In the present case, the two parties directly affected by the placement ruling were the child K.C. and the paternal grandparents. Therefore, K.C.

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